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HERITAGE RESEARCH REPORT
BLINKBONNIE, 50 MAIN STREET, GANANOQUE, ONTARIO
Author: Edgar Tumak, 10 March 2017

REASON FOR POSSIBLE DESIGNATION

Blinkbonnie (Gaelic for beautiful view) traces its core to 1843 when William Stone Macdonald
rebuilt an earlier family residence of 1812. The 1843 structure was greatly remodeled and
expanded in 1902-07, by his son Charles Macdonald, a significant Canadian and U.S. civil
engineer, to the designs of Frank T. Lent—one of Gananoque’s most significant architects. Lent
was an architect of note in Ontario, the U.S., and particularly for Gananoque. The construction
was effected by the Mitchell and Wilson, Gananoque’s most venerable construction firm. The
grand, Colonial Revival style building, expresses the prominence of the McDonald/Macdonald
clan (various spellings originated with the family)—who married into, and became the heirs, of
the town’s founder Joel Stone. The structure as recast in the early 20"-century, was greatly
defined by numerous porches and verandahs, including the entrance porte-cochere (mostly
removed by 2013). Throughout the 19" century, until the early 1920s, the property served as a
family residence. In 1923 it became a prestigious guest house/hotel under the proprietor
Rebecca Edwards, a school teacher, whose family was also of note in Gananoque in the furniture
industry. Under her, the building catered to the Thousand Islands tourism industry that became
increasingly prominent for the economy of Gananoque starting in the late-19" century and
ongoing. Many notables stayed at Blinkbonnie during her control. Since the 1920s, Blinkbonnie
has been an iconic expression of this local and regional, tourism and hospitality economy.
Blinkbonnie is considered of heritage interest for historical, architectural and environmental
reasons.

Figure 1: Blinkbonnie, Main Street elevation, viewed from the northeast with the Clarion Inn in the foreground
(Gananoque 2000, Doug Bickerton, 2000).
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1 Margaret Anne Brilé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness: The Domestic
Architecture of Frank T. Lent,” Master of Arts Thesis submitted to the Department of Art, Queen’s University,
Kingston, Ontario, Canada, October 2012; Mitchell and Wilson and Charles Macdonald, contract, September 2,
1902, Mitchell and Wilson Limited fonds, Queen’s University Archives, Kingston, Ont.; email communication with
Judith McLaughlin, descendent of the family, 12 January 2017.





1920s, it was associated with the McDonald/Macdonald clan,2 who were leading citizens in
Gananoque from the early 19" century starting with Charles McDonald, who arrived in 1810
(subsequently informally referred to as Charles I, versus his grandson, Charles Macdonald 11
who created the current form of Blinkbonnie).

Charles (1) soon developed business connections with Joel Stone, the town's Loyalist founder
(1789), and married Stone's only heir, Mary. With advantageous marriages, property holdings
and business success facilitated by the relocation to Gananoque of additional McDonald family,
the clan played a leading role in the economy and society of Gananoque throughout the 19" and
early-20™ centuries.

Figures 2-3: Blinkbonnie, Main Street Street elevation, viewed from the southeast, ca. 1935 (John Nalon, The Story
of Gananoque: prepared for the Gananogque Museum Board, second printing, 1985); and Blinkbonnie viewed from
the west/Market Street, postmark 1910 (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).
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Through much of the 19™
century, the McDonald/Macdonald family not
only exploited their control and ownership of
land, property and water rights, but were
involved with numerous business ventures.3
They were village-boosters, and even used
their faith to improve civic property values
through their extensive support of St.
Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, 175 Stone
Street South (started 1851-55 with significant
additions throughout the remainder of the 19"
century). In mid-19" century Ontario the
erection a permanent, preferably stone church,
greatly improved property values in a
neighbourhood. The clan also provided land
for the Methodist (now United) Church on

2 McDonald and Macdonald will be used somewhat interchangeably in this report, because the first of the family
to come to Gananoque, Charles, spelled his name McDonald, whereas his son, William Stone (and later owner of
Blinkbonnie), modified the spelling to Macdonald, and subsequent scions of this line maintained the spelling, while
the other branches of the family continued with McDonald.

3 Donald H. Akeson, The Irish in Ontario: a study in rural history, chapter 6, “Gananoque 1849-71,” (McGill -
Queen’s University Press, 1984 and 1999), p. 287, 289 and 296.





Stone Street South, as the patriarch, Stone, transferred from the Anglican to Methodist church in
recognition of his second wife’s strongly held faith.

Figure 4 (below): St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, Gananoque,
view of the west/front elevation (photo E. Tumak, May. 2015).

The town experienced significant growth under the
influence of the McDonalds/Macdonalds, in its
economy, population and industrial diversification.
According to the 1851 census, Gananoque had a
population of 768 in 1849, the settlement was
incorporated as a village in 1863, and by 1871 the
population was 2020. When Gananogue was
incorporated as a town, 1 January 1890, the population
was 3519.4

The residences of the McDonald/Macdonald clan
reflect this growth and include Gananoque Town

Hall—constructed for John (brother of Charles I) and
~ Henrietta Maria (née Mallory, step granddaughter of

Joel Stone) McDonald in 1831 and given to the Town
in 1911 for use as Town Hall (Fig. 7), and the
ostentatious 1872 residence of Samuel McCammon—
who married a McDonald (Fig. 8, at 279 King St. W.,
now the Victoria Rose Inn, and illustrating the
frontispiece of The Irish in Ontario, D. Akeson).
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Figure 5: William Stone Macdonald) residence of
1843, Main Street elevation, photographed ca. 1880s
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s

4 Akeson, The Irish in Ontario, p. 287, 289 and 296.





Figures 6-7: left, John McDonald residence (constructed 1831), since 1911 Gananoque Town Hall, 30 King St. E.,
viewed from the southwest (photo E. Tumak, 2008); and right, Residence of Samuel McCammon, constructed 1872,
279 King St. W., Gananoque, viewed from the northwest (photo, E. Tumak, Jan., 2008).

In its later, grander form, Blinkbonnie illustrates the domestic architecture of Gananoque’s
wealthy at a highpoint in the industrial mechanisation and growth of the municipality.s

The transition of Blinkbonnie into a guesthouse/hotel reflects the development of Gananoque as
a tourist and cottage destination because of its advantageous position vis-a-vis the scenic
Thousand Islands—often considered a vacation paradise.

Straddling the U.S.-Canada border the islands on the American side were developed first but, by
the late-19™" century, Gananoque also had become popular for tourism, including boating,
hunting and sport fishing. George M. Pullman, of sleeping car fame, particularly contributed to
this interest, when in 1873 he invited President Grant to his luxurious compound on Pullman
Island, which remained a showplace for many years even prior to its completion in 1888 (it was
razed for tax considerations by his descendants in the mid-20" century). He knew that with a
Presidential visit and the entourage of reporters from papers of numerous major U.S. cities, this
would advertise the islands as no other forum could, and hence improve his business interests in
the area. After seeing the opulence of Pullman’s island, the articles in newspapers did
materialise and quickly lead to plans for hotels to accommodate the influx of people to the area.
Railroads built sidings to Clayton and Cape Vincent on the U.S. side and as many as twenty
trains a day would come and go at the village stations.s

Reliable ferry services connecting the U.S. side with Gananoque developed with the rising
popularity of the islands, and in 1883 Gananoque finally got a spur line from the then main east-
west rail line, the Grand Trunk Railway, four miles north. It was called the Thousand Islands

5 Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, 95 King Street West, Gananoque, 2008.

6 Susan W. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands,” manuscript report (Parks Canada, 1976),
unpaginated in online format, http://www.oliverkilian.com/ecology/thousand-islands/island-
insights/recreation/recreation.html, copyright 2001-2017, Oliver K. Reichl.




http://www.oliverkilian.com/ecology/thousand-islands/island-insights/recreation/recreation.html
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Railway and, although principally created to facilitate transportation for industry, it greatly
facilitated passenger travel, thereby benefitting tourism. The line was extended to the east side
of the Gananoque River via the Gananoque Swing Bridge of 18937 in a desperate, but
unsuccessful, municipal attempt to keep the Gananoque Carriage Company from relocating to
Brockville. With the empty carriage company building at the scenic south end of the Gananoque
River, at its confluence with the St. Lawrence, the structure was remodelled as the Gananoque
Inn and opened by the end of the 1890s. Passengers could be transported directly to its doors
across the Swing Bridge, at least until 1913, when the tracks were removed because of the
limited traffic. The remainder of the Thousand Islands Railway line was acquired by the CNR
and remained in use until 1965. In addition to the Gananoque Inn, there were popular Canadian
guest houses near Gananoque on Hay Island, Tremont Park Island, and Float Island—a large
hotel capable of accommodating 100 guests (originally built as a private boys' school, it was
renovated in the early 1900s to a hotel).

Summer camps, which were first established in the 1870s on the U.S. side, also promoted the
Thousands Islands as a summer retreat. Most campgrounds were begun by religious
organizations. Thousands of people came from all parts of Canada and the United States to
enjoy a family holiday under the direction of their religious leaders. Thousand Island Park on
the upper end of Wellesley Island was founded by the Methodist Church in 1875. Also on
Wellesley Island was the Presbyterian Camp, called Westminster Park. The Methodist
International Camp Ground, one mile below Morristown, New York, also catered to Canadians
and Americans. The first established camp on the Canadian side was on a high bluff in
Elizabethtown, called the St. Lawrence Central Camp Ground. The land was purchased in 1875
and developed by the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Cottaging and tourism on the Canadian side developed in the 1870s when, in 1873, the
Department of Indian Affairs started selling islands that were surrendered earlier in 1856 by the
Alnwick Band of the Mississauga Indians. Part of the delay stemmed from contending with
resistance from squatters and farmers who had settled on the islands and claimed the property for
their own, as well as residents along the shores of the St. Lawrence River, who felt the islands
opposite the mainland were common property. Sales remained limited, but in 1891, the
Department of Indian Affairs undertook an extensive re-examination and evaluation of the
islands. Following a plan that included hundreds of islands and islets, increased marketing and
sale of islands commenced that year.

However, conditions of sale and required improvements were considered too onerous and sales
remained limited. In 1894, the Canadian government made an effort to sell the islands by
publishing a booklet entitled 1000 Islands for Sale.” The booklet listed a description of each
island, valuations and the terms of sale. These terms of sale excluded any minimum
improvement price. From this marketing push, architect Lent, of Blinkbonnie, purchased small
islands in 1901 and built his own vacation property on two of them—La Vignette Islands also
known as The Sisters).

7 Gananoque Reporter, 23 July, 8 Oct., and 31 Dec. 1892, and 1 July 1893; and Privy Council Minute 2865, 31
Oct., 1893, in Douglas N.W. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to Gananoque (Ottawa: Trackside Canada, 1995), p
39-41.





Sales of crown islands pretty much stopped, when 21 islands provided the nucleus of the St.
Lawrence Islands National Park, in 1904—the oldest of the national parks east of the Rockies.
However, this park also supported tourism, as did 30 New York state parks managed as part of
the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation's Thousand Islands
Region, including many that are located on river islands or along the New York shore. Many of
these river parks were established in the late 19th and early 20th century as part of the St.
Lawrence Reservation, and were among New York's earliest land acquisitions for the purpose of
preservation and recreational development. Among the larger parks is Wellesley Island State
Park, which includes the largest camping complex in the region.s

The iconic status of Blinkbonnie to the Gananoque and Thousand Islands hospitality industry
developed because of the stately form of the former residence and because of the efforts of the
new owner and proprietor, Rebecca Edwards. She attracted well-heeled visitors to the
guesthouse who sought a luxury visit to the Thousand Islands, without the commitment of a
cottage. Under Edwards, Blinkbonnie was known for the lavish appearance of the main
building, its grounds, and its outbuildings. In addition, there were all the requisite adornments of
fine furniture in the bedrooms, as well as fine silverware and china in the dining room.

Figures 8-9:Postcard of Blinkbonnie, viewed from the southwest, ca. 1930s, showing the porch on the left prior to
its conversion to a dining room (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives); and
postcard of Macdonald Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s (Queen’s University Archives)

8  https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thousand_Islands; S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” Brdlé,
“From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p xiv; and D. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to
Gananoque, p 26-29 and 62-69.
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Figures 10-11:Postcard of Joel Stone Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s (Queen’s University Archives); and postcard of
Porch Dining Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1950s, on the west side of the building, with a view to the St. Lawrence
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).

R. Edwards provided additional amenities, such as a yacht club in 1924, which had been built in
1904, to the design of architect Lent—an avid yachtsman, who appears to have commissioned
the structure before it was transferred to the club.o It was known for its formality and included a
dance hall (a customary combination at the time). It was sold in 1947 to the Gananoque Boat
Line as a workshop. Adjacent to the building is a boat slip, and the former Town Waterworks
and Pump House (110 Kate Street, designated 2009).10

9  Gananoque Reporter, 1 Nov. 1902, and 2 April, 23 July 23, 10 Sept. 1904.

10 Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 110 Kate Street,
Gananoque, 2009.





Figure 12: Postcard of
Blinkbonnie Boathouse (former
Gananoque Yacht Club

«  House),with the Town
Waterworks and Pump House to
the left, ca. late 1930s ( Douglas
8 Rombough postcard collection
Queen’s University Archives).

Promotion of Blinkbonnie
as a guest house/hotel was
also facilitated by picture
postcards, either black-and-
white or hand-coloured, which depicted every aspect of the area: boat tours, hotels, inns, large
beautiful homes, and the islands themselves. Well-known photographers included William
Notman of Montreal, A.C. Mcintyre of Alexandria Bay and Alex Murray of Murray and Sons,
Brockville. R. Edwards skilfully marketed Blinkbonnie through postcards with one text
commentary stating: “Different — Yet Modern ... 50 yards from the King's Highway No. 2, just
south of the west end of bridge, on the road to the U.S.A. Ferry. Meals—delicious and
satisfactory—served at all hours in the spacious porch dining room overlooking the gardens and
river—a la carte or table d’héte ... Delightful rooms, with baths and running water.” Another
postcard from the 1950s featuring the Blinkbonnie, shows actors Joan Crawford and Jim Craig at
the pool.11

Prohibition of alcohol at various times in the U.S. and Canada, also proved a boon to tourism on
respective sides of the border, at various times. Few places could compare with the
circumstances the islands offered to the circumvent legislation. In Ontario prohibition was in
effect from 1916-27, whereas federally in the U.S. (and New York State) it was from 1920-33.

Thousand Islands tourism was further facilitated by promotional literature, such as the 1937, The
Thousand Islands of the St. Lawrence River, (by Capt. Henry S. Johnston) who wrote
descriptions of the scenery and historical quotations of events and reminiscences with which they
are associated. He even included a copy of Caleb Lyon's poem "The Thousand Islands"—a
poem has been used extensively to describe the Thousand Islands.

Improved transportation infrastructure facilitated tourism such as the Thousand Islands
International Bridge (or vy Lea Bridge) that opened in 1938, crossing the St. Lawrence at Hill
and Wellesley islands (with five separate bridges of four different construction types), linking
Ontario and New York State highways year round. The earlier ferry service, by contrast, was
seasonal and took significantly longer. The Thousand Islands Bridge Authority promoted
interest in the bridge and surrounding area, and continues to do so. It was instrumental in
distributing much-needed publicity for the region after the First World War when the earlier era
of the social elite had waned somewhat. With a mandate to for the 1000 Islands Region as a
family tourist destination it promoted the services, attractions, and recreational opportunities of
the region as well as encouraging the use of the Thousand Islands Bridge System as a major

11 S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” a collection of such images prepared about the
Blinkbonnie by Doug Rombough, “The Blinkbonnie Hotel, Gananoque, Ontario” 2013.





vehicular linkage between the two nations. The Authority continues to promote the area, and in
1977 assumed control of Boldt Castle and Heart Island, and commenced the consolidation and
completion of the long-neglected structure. However, even as Blinkbonnie emerged as a
prominent guest house in the 1920s, island castles contributed immensely to the tourism
economy of the Thousand Islands and Gananoque.12 Boat travel was further facilitated by the
opening of the St. Lawrence Seaway system in 1959, and there are currently more boat slips in
Gananoque (public and private) than in Kingston (140 vs. 92).13

The significance of tourism for Gananoque in the last 75 years is underscored by numerous
Canadian and U.S. public and private organisations combining efforts as part of the Tourism
Marketing Initiative (TIMP). Through this, municipalities have been helped with assessing and
developing their tourism product, by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism which established the
Premier-ranked Tourist Destinations Framework (PRTDF). It assists jurisdictions in assessing
their tourist assets, attractions and amenities and allows them to identify opportunities in tourism
development. The Ministry provides financial assistance to regions that undertake the PRTDF
process. Gananoque is part of this process and statistics note accommodation for about 750 in
hotels, guest houses, B&Bs, etc., and 470 for RV or camp sites. Gananoque has also responded
to the more recent trend that cultural tourism increases at 15 %/year, and that 37% of all
international tourism includes: performing arts (theatre, dance, music); art galleries and schools,
gardens and crafts; museums, historic sites, villages and reconstructions; festivals and events;
local cuisine; and Aboriginal culture. 14

Figures 13-14: Beyond the top end of the image is the head race diverging from the Gananoque River near the
junction of Mill Street (Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4);
below, former Skinner Residence, 95 King Street West, Gananoque, Ontario, front (north/King St. elevation),
constructed 1905, architect F.T. Lent, builder Mitchell and Wilson. (Photo: Sleepy Hollow Bed & Breakfast
website, 2008).

12 S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” and D. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to Gananoque.
13 Premier-ranked Tourist Destination Framework, 1000 Islands - St. Lawrence Seaway Regional Report,
February 2008, p 13.

14 Premier-ranked Tourist Destination Framework, p 3, 6, 11, 20 and 22.





Blinkbonnie was
not the only
grand residence
converted to a
guest house (also
called hotels and
tourist homes) in
the early 20"
century. By 1947
in the same
stretch of Main,
Market and King
streets there were
four additional
commaodious
residences
converted to
tourist
accommodation:
the International Hotel (intersection of Main, Mill
and King West), the Golden Apple Tourist Home
(east corner of King and Market), Landon Tourist
Home (west corner of King and Market), and Currie
Manor Tourist Home (95 King West at Church)—all
these buildings remain standing.15s The latter was
constructed in 1905 as the mansion of prominent
Gananoque manufacturer and provincial politician,
Frederick J. Skinner. It now serves as Sleepy Hollow
B&B and received exterior and interior designation
in 2008.16

In the year Edwards died, in 1957, Blinkbonnie was
sold, along with its various outbuildings. The
building went through a succession of owners and
less than prestigious uses, but eventually in 1983

shared the site with a new facility known as the Clarion Inn. Accordingly, for almost a century
Blinkbonnie has catered to Gananoque's tourism industry, which has been augmented to include
the Thousand Islands Playhouse and the Thousand Islands OLG Casino. Only in recent years
has Blinkbonnie again suffered notable neglect, including removal of all porches (2013).

Events
No specific events of note are yet known to be associated with Blinkbonnie, Gananoque, other
than brief visits of notable persons.

15
16

Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4.

Tumak, 95 King Street West, Gananoque.





Persons/Institutions

The name Blinkbonnie, reflects the McDonald’s/Macdonald’s Scottish background, and means
beautiful view. William Stone Macdonald (1812-1902, married Isabella Hall 1836). He was the
eldest son of Charles (1), and assumed control of his father’s and uncle’s business holdings in
1851. In 1843, he rebuilt on the site of the house his father built, and lived there until his death.
The house was passed to William’s son, Charles (11), who was born in the house, and who
transformed it into a much grander residence when he semi-retired to Gananogue at the
beginning of the 20" century. In 1912 Charles (I1) transferred the property to his son, William
Stone (1862-1920, referred to here as W. S. 1), with the understanding that Charles (11) could
stay there for life. Unfortunately, W. S. Il died suddenly in 1923, without a will, and
Blinkbonnie and its outbuildings were sold to settle the estate. When Rebecca Edwards bought
Blinkbonnie in 1923 as a guesthouse she accommodated octogenarian Charles (1) in his former
family home, while it functioned as a guesthouse. Charles (I1) died at Blinkbonnie in 1928 at 91.

While most of the McDonalds/Macdonalds connected with Gananoque were primarily involved
with mercantile and other business activities, as well as public life, Charles (1) became a civil
engineer of note, specialising in bridge building. He was involved with design and construction
of bridges in the U.S., Canada, South Africa and Australia. During much of his working life he
resided in the U.S., where he was lauded for his activities, and eventually served as President of
the American Society of Civil Engineers, 1908-09, an organisation of which he had been a
member since 1869. Additionally, he was a member of the Canadian Society of Civil
Engineers—serving as Vice-president in 1896, and the Institute of Mining Engineers, as well as a
trustee of his alma mater, the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. He had his portrait painted by
Robert Harris, one of the most prominent Canadian portrait artists of the 19" century.17

Charles was schooled in Gananoque, and later a Preparatory School of what was then Queen’s
College—Ilater University, Kingston (in 1894 he was honoured by Queen’s with an honorary
degree of Doctorate of Law). At the age of 15 in 1852-53 he worked for one of Canada’s
premier engineers, Samuel Keefer, where he served on a survey team of the Grand Trunk
Railway between Kingston and Brockville, then being built by another Gananoquean, Charles
Legge (a cousin through his great aunt, sister of W.S (I) Macdonald). Desiring to pursue the
profession of civil engineering, in 1854 Charles enrolled in the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute
at Troy, New York, which was then the only institution of its kind in the U.S. (and North
America), and graduated in 1857. On graduation he returned to the Grand Trunk and assumed
the position of assistant engineer of the Philadelphia and Reading Railroad.

He was engaged in the construction of an extension of the Grand Trunk Railway from Port
Huron to Detroit, Michigan. He returned to Gananoque, but found little demand for his services
in Canada, and in 1863 moved to the U.S., finding employment with the Engineering Corps of

17 Biographical Dictionary of Canadian Engineers, ed., Rod Millard, http://history.uwo.ca/cdneng/; Wm. Hawke,
Historic Gananoque (Belleville: Mika Publishing, 1974), p 71-72, from The Transactions of the American Society of
Civil Engineering, 1930; and Frank Griggs, ‘Charles Macdonald: Great Achievements: Notable Structural
Engineers’, Structure Magazine, Jan., 2009, p. 45-46; Obit., Charles Macdonald I, Scarsdale Inquirer, No. 34, 13
July 1928.





the Reading Railroad, and lived in Pottstown, Pennsylvania. With the start of the American Civil
War, he joined the Pennsylvania Volunteers, was taken prisoner, but freed after the Battle of
Gettysburg. When the war was over in 1865, he devoted much time to the study of iron bridge
construction, a relatively new concept at that time. He was entrusted with the construction of
bridges for the Lackawanna Railroad, and in 1869 opened an office in New York City. He was
appointed a trustee for the construction of the Brooklyn Bridge (Col. W.A. Roebling, Chief
Engineer), which opened in 1883.

Charles was a founder in the Union Bridge Company at its organisation in 1884 (acknowledged
as the chief funding partner and leader of the team), which went on to build such prominent
bridges as the 1889 Poughkeepsie Bridge over the Hudson River (then the world’s longest
bridge), the Merchant’s Bridge over the Mississippi at St. Louis, the Sixth Street Bridge in
Pittsburgh, and the span over the Ohio River at Cairo. In 1887-89 he was the superintending
engineer of the Hawkesburg Bridge in New South Wales, Australia, after his company’s plans
were accepted after a world-wide competition.

In 1900 Charles figured prominently in the organisation of the American Bridge Company,
which was a consolidation of the Union Bridge Company and other large bridge-building firms.
He became Vice-president of the new company and remained in that position until it was
absorbed by the United States Steel Corporation in 1902. He retired from the firm at this time,
but remained active in the field, and was frequently engaged as a consultant, notably in 1910 as
an expert commissioner following the partial collapse and disastrous loss of life of the massive
cantilever bridge over the St. Lawrence at Quebec City in 1907—a project that after two partial
collapses would ultimately take from 1900-17 to complete. The report is considered a classic of
structural engineering and benefitted bridge design around the world. When Charles died he was
considered by both his local and professional press as one of the greatest bridge builders in North
America and one of the greatest citizens of Gananoque.1s

He married Sarah Louise Willard of Troy NY in 1861, and three children lived to adulthood:
William Stone (I1) and Mrs. J.R. Serson and Mrs. W.G. Triest. His wife died in 1912, his son in
1923, Mrs. Serson in 1943, and Mrs. Triest in 1953.

Rebecca Edwards, as the subsequent owner and hotel proprietor of Blinkbonnie, was also
connected with a prominent Gananoque family, as the sister of William Edwards who owned a
successful furniture store and undertaking business (the two activities were often connected at
the time as coffins needed detailed cabinetry).19 However, she also made a name for herself first
as a school teacher. Before retiring from teaching she operated Blinkbonnie a hotel and, after
teaching she maintained the business until shortly before she died at 82 in September 1957. In
her obituary it was stated “She made the hotel one of the most unique in Ontario.”

Edwards was born, educated, and lived most of her life in Gananoque, except for brief periods.
She started her teaching career at the age of 17 and retired in 1933 after 41 years. Her last

18 The Canadian Encyclopedia, 2" ed., q.v. “Bridges;” Wm. Hawke, Historic Gananoque (Belleville: Mika
Publishing, 1974), p 71-72, from The Transactions of the American Society of Civil Engineering, 1930; and Frank
Griggs, ‘Charles Macdonald: Great Achievements: Notable Structural Engineers’, Structure Magazine, Jan., 2009,
p. 45-46.

19 Gananoque Reporter, Thurs., 19 Sept. 1957, p. 6.





teaching appointment was in Kingston. She was a charter member of the King’s Daughters, and
an honorary member of the Beta Sigma Phi sorority. She attended Christ Church, Gananoque,
and in her younger years was active in church and community affairs. She never married and
sold the property to Steven Amery of Kingston, after being in failing health for some months.

ARCHITECTURE

Design
Blinkbonnie is a grand, picturesque design, incorporating classical balance of its various

components, within an asymmetrical massing. The design masterfully incorporates an earlier
structure, and with its greater height took advantage of a placement of the views of both the St.
Lawrence and the Gananoque rivers (hence the Gaelic name meaning beautiful view). With a
footprint that steps forward to the Main Street, it has a notable presence—particularly
commanding when seen from the southeast. The former porches, whether the large entrance
porte-cochere or commodious side and rear verandas, were an essential component of the design,
and the building looks forlorn in its current state without them. Further animation of the early
20"-century structure, that are also gone, include pointy finials on all the dormer windows and
the cupola, as well numerous chimneys with decorative brickwork at the caps.

Figure 15: Postcard of the west view
from the Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s,
looking towards the St. Lawrence
River. The building in the upper right
(not extant) at one time served as an
annex for the main hotel/guest house
(Douglas Rombough postcard
collection Queen’s University
Archives).

When Blinkbonnie was
remodelled by Charles (1)
Macdonald, it was intended to
appear suitable for a person
who had worked most of his
life in the prosperous realm of upper American engineering circles. In addition to elaborate
porches (later modified or augmented for the purposes of the guest house trade), and the
dominating fourth-level rooftop cupola/widow’s walk, there were ornaments of five fireplaces,
elaborate wood trim and floors, chandeliers, 10 bedrooms and five baths—the latter being quite
an exceptional number at the beginning of the 20" century.

Style
Blinkbonnie is an excellent example of the Colonial Revival Style, as espoused by architect Lent.

The style rose to popularity after the U.S Centennial International Exposition in Philadelphia in
1876, and its favour greatly increased with the World Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1892,
It has remained a popular traditional residential design in the U.S. and Canada since. The bones,
or the core structure, of 1843, were a vernacular version of British late Georgian, which shared
similarities with motifs of the American Colonial Revival, because of the classical origins of
both styles. However, details of the Colonial Revival style could range quite widely, and cross





over into the Queen Anne Revival Style, as is the case with 95 King St. W., which has numerous
classical references with columns and pilasters, low relief garlands and panels (of pressed metal),
urn-topped rail posts, and sash windows, yet which has an irregularity more in keeping with
Queen Anne Revival Style massing.

With the Colonial Revival Style, a wide selection of building materials could be employed,
sometimes all on the same building—wood siding of clapboard or shingles, stucco, brick, or
stone. Blinkbonnie of 1902 had a rough-cast parge, painted yellow (one of Lent’s favourite
colours) that masterfully united the many different structural components. This achieved an
underlying discipline associated with the classical/formal aesthetic of the Colonial Revival Style.
Detailing associated with the Colonial Revival Style included: window shutters, low relief
garlands on the window lintels, porch columns of wood with restrained capitals, and regularly
placed urn-topped rail posts featured on the upper level of every porch.

In Lent’s second book Sensible Suburban Residences, he delves further into his concept of the
Colonial Revival style and features. He praises “the charming and quaint grace of our fine old
[American] colonial style of country houses which makes them so sought after by those
interested in modern suburban residences.” He expresses his admiration of the early settlers for
their ability “to build sensible, useful and picturesque houses — houses built to stay; fit to live in
comfortably and fit to look at pleasurably.” He believes that these principles employed in earlier
architectural design can be applied to the modern suburban home. Architecture was not alone in
its interest in the colonial period for inspiration, and the movement included other forms of
cultural expression such as music, art and landscape design. 2o

The Colonial Revival was not based on a single precedent, but looked to the various styles that
characterized the early settlers in different regions of the U.S. and Canada. The most popular
revival style, however, was English, with all its various interpretations. Architects looked back
to early Classical Revival Style houses, and the simpler shingled houses in New England,
especially of Cape Cod, Massachusetts, for inspiration. They borrowed features from these
models such as symmetrical facades, decorated doorways often with sidelights and fanlights,
columned porches, dormers, sash windows and other traits both inside and out that linked the
modern designs to the architectural traditions of the past.

Architect/Designer, Builder
Architect

20 Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” p 5, from Frank T. Lent, Sensible
Suburban Architecture: containing Suggestions, Hints, and Practical Ideas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of
Country Homes (Frank T. Lent, Tremont Building, Boston, 1894).





Frank T. (Franklin Townsend) Lent (1855-1919) was an architect, author and painter. By the
time he greatly re-worked Blinkbonnie, he was well known in Gananoque and the surrounding
area as an architect, particularly for commodious suburban, country, island and seaside
residences. Lent came to Gananoque, ca. 1900, and designed his residence at 120 Market Street
(neighbouring Blinkbonnie at the southwest
corner of the intersection with Clarence). His
views on domestic architecture are well conveyed
in three books he authored, in which he
comments about designing and supervising the
construction of a prodigious number of
residences—apparently a good number being
mail order designs that he did not supervise the
construction. Lent favoured the Colonial Revival
style and in this incorporated classical, Dutch, or
Shingle style influences, as well as his own
interpretations, such as the dramatic cupola of the
new section of Blinkbonnie which harkens to
earlier designs by Lent, such as the Rodgers

, Residence of 1903-04 in the Roosevelt

; Manor community of Cranford, New

= Jersey—a planned commuting suburb of

~~ New York City with which Lent was greatly
involved.21

Figures 16-17: Rodgers Residence, Cranford NJ
ok (Brilé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat
- In The Wilderness,” p 31, from Roosevelt Manor
' suburb promotional material); and next page, former
{ Lent Residence, 120 Market Street, Gananoque (photo

E. Tumak 2017).

.........

In the last decade increasing research about
Lent has not only revealed much about his

21 Frank T. Lent: Sound Sense in Suburban Architecture: containing Hints, Suggestions, and Bits of Practical
Information for the Building of Inexpensive Country Houses (Frank T. Lent, Cranford, New Jersey, 1893); Sensible
Suburban Architecture: containing Suggestions, Hints, and Practical Ideas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of
Country Homes (Frank T. Lent, Tremont Building, Boston, 1894); Summer Homes and Camps: containing
Suggestions, Hints, and Practical ldeas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of Summer Homes (Frank T. Lent,
Tremont Building, Boston, 1899); Br(lé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” Ah,
Wilderness! Resort Architecture in the Thousand Islands, Pierre de la Ruffiniére du Prey, Guest Curator, Dorothy
Farr, Supervising Curator, Exhibition Catalogue, Agnes Etherington Art Centre, Queen’s University, Kingston,
2004, p. 94-97; “F.T Lent Dead at Sterling,” Worchester Telegram & Gazette, December 3, 1919; and obit.,
Gananoque Reporter, December 13, 1919.





oeuvre: that he was the only practising architect in Gananoque in the early 20" century, and that
he may be the most significant architect of Gananoque and its Thousand Islands hinterland.22

Born in Poughkeepsie, New York, Lent graduated from Rutgers University in New Jersey in
1878 with a B.S., and a MS in 1881. This was followed by two years of postgraduate
apprenticeship in the New Jersey-based architectural firm of William A. Potter. Lent described
his first 20-years of architectural practise as focussed in the vicinity of New York City and
Boston, with commissions in a total of nine states—but principally Massachusetts, Maine, New
Jersey, New York (he also practised in Colorado and Nevada where he was living temporarily
for health reasons), as well as Ontario. He became a member of both the American Institute of
Architects and a Fellow of the Royal Canadian Institute of Architects.

In his middle to mature years, Lent became associated
with the cottage country of the Thousand Islands and
Rideau Lakes area (e.g., Rockport). In 1901 he

" advertised himself to be “devoting his entire time to St.
% Lawrence river work as resident architect and
inspector.”23 This geographical transition may have
been prompted by the acrimonious divorce from his
first wife. Despite this, one of his earliest
commissions in Gananoque was the second Rectory

i for Christ Church, 16 Princess Street, (contractors
Mitchell & Wilson).24

Figures 18-19: Above, 16 Princess St., Gananoque, second rectory of Christ Church (photo E. Tumak, 2009); next
page left, 18 Barrie St., Kingston (photo P. Robertson, 2017); and next page right, Gananoque Clock Tower, viewed
from the southwest. (Photo: Edgar Tumak, Jan., 2008).

22 E.g., although American in origin he was not included in earlier standard architect biographical references (e.g.,

Avery Obituary Index of Architects and Artists (Boston); Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The

Wilderness.”

23 Biographical information and quote from, Freeman Britton, Souvenir of Gananoque and the Thousand Islands,
privately published by the publisher of the Gananoque Reporter, quoted in Ah, Wilderness! p. 96.

24 Heritage Tour of Elgin, http://www.twprideaulakes.on.ca/elgintour/ ; Gananoque Reporter 1 June 1901, from

Bralé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” p 73.
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Additional notable summer and suburban
residences in the Gananoque region by Lent
include: Dr. E.L. Atkinson’s cottage (ca. 1900), Big
White Calf Island, Admiralty Island Group,
Thousand Islands; Frederick J. Skinner Residence,
95 King Street West, Gananoque (1905, designated); the very large vacation property of
Nokomis Lodge, Howe Island (additions and alterations 1903 by Lent, destroyed by fire 1914
and new design by Lent, destroyed by fire 2003); 18 Barrie Street (at the corner of King St. W.),
Kingston, which was substantially remodelled by Lent in 1905—and as masterfully as
Blinkbonnie (originally constructed in 1830, later renovated for Queen’s University, Faculty of
Medicine).2s

Institutional buildings, however, were very much part of his oeuvre as demonstrated by the 1903
Gananoque Clock Tower, Stone Street South—funded by Charles (11) Macdonald and built in
memory of his father, William Stone Macdonald, who died in 1902;26 and by St. Paul’s Anglican
Church, Elgin (north of Gananoque, 1903-05)—a Gothic Revival design of squat proportions
with intricate interior woodwork by James Stanton.27

In addition to its aesthetic qualities, the Colonial Revival Style could, as Lent interpreted, turn its
attention to practical matters, and discuss the ideas of shelter and comfort, and the importance of
combining utility and beauty in a thoughtful and meaningful way. Lent addressed the idea of
convenience and the importance of the plan of the house to the daily lives of the occupants in the
second section of his book Sound Sense in Suburban Architecture. He goes through a floor plan
room by room beginning with the hall, providing guidance on the placement, floor plan design
with advice regarding built-in and non-built-in elements. He reminds the reader that the hall

25 Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness.”

26 Commissioned by Charles Macdonald of Gananoque, the tower was part of the Fire House complex with the
portion below the clock level serving as the hose drying chamber—the chimes could also ring to a code that
indicated what area of town where a fire or emergency had been noted. See, Gananoque Historical Society
Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39; Gananoque Reporter, July 18, 1903; and Gananoque Clock Tower, heritage
plaque.

27 Heritage Tour of Elgin, http://www.twprideaulakes.on.ca/elgintour/ ; Gananoque Reporter occurred on
Saturday June 1, 1901.
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gives the first impression to a visitor, and to consider design elements carefully. Lent advises on
colour (he promoted yellow on both the interior and exterior), and even materials for flooring,
furnishings, rugs, closets, and recommends the inclusion of stained glass windows in the hall.

Lent was precise in his instructions and promoted commaodious sliding glass doors (sliding out of
sight when opened), providing morning sun in the dining room, and well-furnished kitchens
supplied with all the necessary closets, cupboards, and north facing location to keep out the heat
in summer. Every aspect of the home was discussed, from the second story, the den, the cellar
even the verandahs (he often called piazzas), with detailed instructions from swinging pantry
doors, to the fireplace(s) and all important mantel—often included in the entrance stair hall, as
well as his preferred choices of hardware, radiators, boilers, door knobs, paint and varnish,
plumbing, even stained glass windows.2e Such detailed instructions may stem from his mail
order design activities, which include a residence recently documented as extant in Picton,
Ontario (2 Johnson Street, ca. 1898).29
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Figure 20: 2 Johnson Street, Picton, Ontario, ca.
1898, mail order design by F.T. Lent (photo: E.
Tumak, 2017).

Lent was also notable as an artist. He
was a member of the Academy of
Design, and in 1884 the New York
Herald lists F.T. Lent as "one of others
represented among the painters now in
view" at the American Art Gallery in
New York City.30

Lent spent his final years at his principal
residence in Sterling, Massachusetts, but
returned each summer to the Gananoque
area to reside in his cottage “Wee Rocks” located on a pair of small islands (connected by a
bridge) south of McDonald Island in the Admiralty Group near Gananoque.

Lent’s success as an architect was based on several factors. He had the ability to appreciate the
sensibilities of the late-19th and early-20th century consumers. He recognized the importance of
the design qualities of the home but, perhaps more importantly, he also understood the home was
much more than a material space: it also had to satisfy the family emotionally and
psychologically. It enabled the family to create a domestic space, a sanctuary from the outside
world, and was a means of constructing an identity through its style and location.

Lent advocated the Colonial Revival style in both theory and practice, and he developed a
personal style that drew on the classical and vernacular origins of the movement. He used this
formula in his work in the suburbs around New York City, and translated it across the border to
Gananogue and the Thousand Islands. Additionally, Lent was able to successfully market his

28 Dolores R. Buckley, “Discovering Frank T. Lent,” Thousand Islands life.com, posted 8 April 2012.

29  Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p 13-22.
30 Buckley, “Discovering Frank T. Lent.”





services through the three books he wrote and through advertisements he took out in various
publications. The ideas conveyed and the practical information provided, not only offer a look
into building practice and architectural style during this period, but more importantly, they
provide a glimpse into the culture around the home and the development of suburban and resort
architecture. Many of his buildings that exist today are quite striking, and admirable for their
contribution to the architectural landscape.s1

Builder

The firm of Mitchell and Wilson was responsible for the construction of the 1902 augmentation
of Blinkbonnie. In addition to many structures in Gananoque, the firm built numerous summer
residences in the Thousand Islands—many to the designs of Lent, including some of the former
outbuildings at Blinkbonnie. The firm would remain the leading Gananoque construction in
Gananoque through the 20" century, and remained in family control.s2

At the time of Blinkbonnie’s aggrandisement, the firm was headed by David Mitchell (whose
family started the business in Gananoque in 1854) and George Wilson who started his career as a
bricklayer, and by 1892 was successful enough to join with the prominent Mitchell family
business.33 The men developed the firm into the leading Gananoque construction company.s4

George Mitchell came to Gananoque in 1833, but did not settle there permanently until 1842
when he established his first Gananoque business as a carriage shop, later adding joinery and
house building. In 1854 he purchased property on the Gananoque River near the upper dam
from W.S. (1) Macdonald, for his expanding carriage factory. In addition to his business
activities, George was a respected leader as Precentor of Psalmody with St. Andrew’s
Presbyterian Church, Gananoque, (i.e., the person who kept the choir in tune when singing
psalms, establishing the initial pitch with a tuning fork, because pianos and organs were
forbidden in St. Andrew’s until 1874). For his duties, he received an inscribed silver watch from
the congregation for 24 years in this role. After the death of George (1892) and his wife Jane,
the family commissioned a memorial window in their honour in St. Andrew’s. They had four
sons and five daughters. Around 1903-04, Jane relocated to Winnipeg, where some of her
children lived, and died there in 1908.

David Alexander Mitchell (b. 1859), was the son who continued as manager of the family
business on the Mitchell side (having started work in the company in 1886). With David Wilson
as a partner, the two purchased the company from Jane in 1892, and the firm became known as
Mitchell and Wilson. Wilson looked after building construction, and Mitchell the planing, mill
and supply business. Wilson died in 1911, and D. Mitchell purchased D. Wilson’s interests in
the company from his widow, but carried on under the name of Mitchell and Wilson. In 1912

31 Bralé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p 106-107.

32 Susan W. Smith, “Mitchell & Wilson Ltd.’s Minute Book, Part I” Thousand Islands life.com, posted 13 July,
2012; Gananoque Historical Society Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39; St. Andrew’s Preshyterian Church,
160™ Anniversary Sunday, November 16, 1997, p.7; Unnamed newspaper source, 1939, in St. Andrew’s history
scrapbook, p. 10; and Mitchell and Wilson history (type-written manuscript), Mitchell and Wilson Limited
fonds, unpaginated.

33 Gananoque Historical Society Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39.

34 St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, 160" Anniversary Sunday, November 16, 1997, p.7; and Unnamed

newspaper source, 1939, in St. Andrew’s history scrapbook, p. 10.





David sold his investments and property at the upper dam, (as the location acquired in 1854 was
too small for the expanding business) to the Jones Shovel Co. for their expanding their shovel
factory. The Mitchell & Wilson business moved to the northwest corner of Market and St.
Lawrence streets. There he built a factory, office, three storage sheds and a stable. He retired in
1922, at which time the business was incorporated under the name Mitchell and Wilson Ltd. The
business was assumed by his nephew Ross Richardson who moved back to Gananoque from
Winnipeg in 1910, and who remained manager for the next 42 years, retiring in 1964 (died
1984). David died in 1937 at 77, at which time his daughter Mary, became president of the
company.

In addition to Blinkbonnie, notable structures of the combined Mitchell & Wilson from the early
20" century include: the Skinner residence in 1905 (now the Sleepy Hollow B&B, Fig. 6); the
Gananogue Band Stand of 1921 (Fig. 13, designed by then Gananoque Band member William
Rees); the old high school opposite St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church (constructed 1895,
demolished 1949), and the gates at the three town entrances; the Clock Tower, numerous
factories such as the Electric Light Company; churches (such as the 1886-87 enlargement of St.
Andrew’s Presbyterian) and some of the largest island homes including Limberlost (foot of Hill
Island), Nokomis Lodge (Howe Island), Benson’s Island (lvy Lea).3s

The work of George Wilson is not to be confused with R.J. Wilson who was also a prominent
builder in Gananogue at the time, and who was responsible for the construction of the
Gananoque Swing Bridge on Water Street (1893, designated 2013), and the Gananoque Pump
House (1903-05, designated 2009).36

ENVIRONMENT

Compatibility with Heritage
Environs

 Figure 21: Postcard of Blinkbonnie
outbuildings (coach house and water tower),
formerly located in the northwest ell of the
property, viewed from the west lawn/garden
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection
Queen’s University Archives).

Blinkbonnie of the early to mid-20™
century was situated on a spacious
town property, enhanced by
expansive and well detailed porches/verandahs, and surrounded with meticulously tended
gardens. There were several outbuildings in a northwest ell of the grounds, including: a 50-foot
water tower, laundry, and garage (originally a coach house of 1902, demolished 1983). The

35 Gananogue Band Stand, heritage plaque.

3 Town of Gananoque heritage research file; history of the Mitchell and Wilson construction firm, in Sleepy
Hollow Bed & Breakfast heritage research file, n.s., n.d.; conversation with Ewart Richardson, 30 October 2009,
regarding the history of the Mitchell and Wilson company; Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, 95 King
Street West, Gananoque, Ontario, 2009; and Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, Gananoque Swing Bridge,
Water Street, Gananoque, Ontario, 2013.





water tower was never used, because of the establishment of the municipal water system in 1903-
05 with the construction of the Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 110 Kate Street (however,
the tower remained in place for decades).37

Figure 22:Current site plan for 50 Main
Street, Gananoque. (source: Town of
Gananoque Planning Department, 2017).
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Figure 23: Blinkbonnie, Main Street Street elevation, viewed from the northeast, ca. late 1920s, showing the ample
porte-cochere and north/side porch/veranda (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).

r Most of these large and
small 19" century
residences remain,
although a significant
modification to the
environs is the Clarion
Inn, the closest
component being a
one-storey pool
building sitting tightly
at the northwest/rear
corner of Blinkbonnie
(Fig. 1). While large,
the Clarion Inn is lower
than Blinkbonnie and
set further back from
Main Street, and as such does not have an overriding impact on the much larger mass of the
historic building. However, the current site configuration of the Clarion Inn (2013) only

37 Mitchell and Wilson and Charles Macdonald, contract, September 2, 1902, Mitchell and Wilson Limited; and
Tumak, Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 2009.
38  Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4.





provides a narrow side/north property for Blinkbonnie, with the property division now extending
onto the area of a former sizeable porch/veranda dating from the 1902 Blinkbonnie design.

On the Market Street side—a narrow, one-way street, the Clarion Inn has a very prominent
impact, effectively forming a two-storey wall on the north boundary of the Blinkbonnie site.
While the rear/west end of the property remains open to Market Street, the 2013 property
severance also cut the Blinkbonnie site access to the road, whereas formerly it always extended
to the street.

Community Context / Landmark Status

Blinkbonnie has served a prominent role in Gananque’s hospitality industry for about 90 years.
Prior to this, it was one of the town’s grandest residences from the early-20" century until the
early 1920s. Going back earlier, from the mid-19" century, even though a much smaller
residence, it was still a commodious residence of one of Gananoque’s leading families. A wide
section of the local population, or people associated with Gananoque, know of this highly
pedigreed status, and it can still be presented in local media reports without an image or address
provided.

Located near the north end of Main Street, with the property visually extending west/back to
Market Street, it is centrally located, just removed from downtown. Further it is included as part
of Gananoque’s Lowertown: classified by the Planning Department as undergoing a renaissance,
and considered an up-and-coming neighbourhood, particularly with significant residential and
recreational developments along the nearby St. Lawrence shoreline.

A further distinguishing feature, the imposing cupola/widow’s walk that rises from the centre of
the large front section, increases its visibility from various vantage points in town.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF

A A NANOQUE

Canadian Gateway to the 1000 Islands

HERITAGE COMMITTEE MINUTES

On, February 15, 2016 @ 6:00 PM

At Town Hall, 30 King St East

Item

Title/Description

Recommended Action /
Attachment

Draft
Motion

1

CALLTo ORDER — Chair call meeting to order at 6:05 PM

CoMmMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

PUBLIC AT LARGE: Joanne van Dreumel

Linda Dunford

David Anderson

Alan Fitzhugh

STAFF: Shelley Hirstwood
Counci: Jeff Girling
REGRETS: Jared Trombetta, Derryl Wood
2 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
MorTioN No. 2017- 01 Moved by: Alan Fitzhugh Seconded by: Jeff Girling
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee agenda for February 15, 2017 is hereby adopted.
CARRIED
3 HEeALTH SAFETY & WELLNESS Caution for winter driving
4 DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & THE GENERAL NATURE THEREOF None
5 PuBLIC QUESTION/COMMENT None
6 DEPUTATIONS None
7 | RePORTS/NEW BUSINESS

Heritage Week February 20-26

-2017 Heritage Week will be celebrated through a social media campaign

-2018 Heritage Week idea: Capture local history through videos with local residents and

showcase videos at the library. Each day could feature a different historic theme ie.

First Nations, Environmental Stewardship, Business etc.

Page 1 of 3






Heritage Committee Minutes February 15, 2017

Item

Recommended Action /

Title/D ipti
itle/Description R

Draft
Motion

Heritage Training Workshop

-Committee is interested in hosting a CHO workshop

-Topics in order of priority include ‘How does Heritage Fit with Planning’, ‘Adaptive
Reuse of Buildings’, and ‘Council/Property Owner/Developer Relations’

-Staff to proceed with booking workshop in Fall

MoTioN No. 2017- 02 Moved by: Jeff Girling Seconded by: Joanne van Dreumel
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee proceed with hosting a CHO workshop in
2017.

CARRIED

Walking Tour Brochures

MoTioN No. 2017- 03 Moved by: Al Fitzhugh Seconded by: Linda Dunford
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee proceed with printing the Heritage Walking
Tour Brochure.

CARRIED

Bluff Park/ Agnes Maule Machar Update

Council Motion regarding renaming Bluff Park and installing a plaque was deferred.
Please reference Council Report ED-2016-21.

-Council representative explained that the motion was deferred because there was no
proof of the 1937 motion. Further, Council thought there might be a way to tie in the
Rotary Park project.

Ferncliff Property

-Property owners of Ferncliff property are interested in designating the 18 acre parcel
of land.

MorTion No. 2017- 04 Moved by: Joanne van Dreumel Seconded by: Al Fitzhugh
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee proceed with the designation process of the
property legal description PLAN 86 PT BLK K PT LOT A GAN R W/S, commonly referred to
as Ferncliff.

CARRIED

Action Items:
-David to speak with Carl Bray regarding designation report

Page 2 of 3






Heritage Committee Minutes February 15, 2017

ltem Title/Description Recommended Action / Draft
P Attachment Motion
Blinkbonnie Report Update
- Edgar Tumak provided a draft version of the Blinkbonnie Heritage Report.
- Committee will review the report and provide comments to staff via email
Susan Push Update
Funding/Donation
-$13,955 to date from Town and private donation plus $5000 committed by the Lions
General Plans
-Staff presented a revised letter requesting support to be distributed via email
-Staff presented a follow up letter requesting funds from Shorelines Casino
-Stonewater Pub is running a fundraising campaign from February 15 — May 15" where
$1 of every Steamwhistle sold during this time will go towards the Susan Push Fund.
Further support will be provided through Trivia Nights.
-Derryl applied to be part of the Muskie Jake’s Fundraiser nights.
-May 15 a fundraiser will be held at the Museum.
8 CORRESPONDENCE
MINUTES OF COMMITTEE (ADOPTION)
MoTioN No. 2017- 05 Moved by: Linda Dunford Seconded by: Jeff Girling
9 Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee adopt the November 17, 2016 minutes.
CARRIED
MEMBERS OF THE PRESS QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS
ADJOURNMENT
MoTioN No. 2017-06 Moved by: Jeff Girling
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee adjourn the February 15, 2017 meeting.
10
CARRIED
NEXT MEETING: MARCH 9™ AT 6:00PM
11
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